# George Finlay

# History of the Greek Revolution

The Hellenic Kingdom and the Greek Nation

# GogLiB ebooks

ISBN: 9788897527480 First electronic edition: February 2020 www.goglib.com

Public Domain Mark 1.0

No Copyright

This work has been identified as being free of known restrictions under copyright law, including all related and neighboring rights.

#### Contents

#### FOREWORD AND AUTHOR'S BIOGRAPHY

Note to the 2020 electronic edition Original Title Page

#### BOOK FIRST. EVENTS PRECEDING THE REVOLUTION.

CHAPTER I. THE CONDITION OF THE MODERN GREEKS.

CHAPTER II. THE ALBANIANS.

CHAPTER III. SULTAN MAHMUD AND ALI PASHA OF JOANNINA.

#### BOOK SECOND. THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE REVOLUTION.

CHAPTER I. THE CAUSES OF THE GREEK REVOLUTION.

CHAPTER II. THE OPERATIONS OF THE GREEK HETAIRISTS BEYOND THE DANUBE.

CHAPTER III. THE OUTBREAK OF THE REVOLUTION IN GREECE.

CHAPTER IV. THE POLICY AND CONDUCT OF SULTAN MAHMUD II.

#### BOOK THIRD. THE SUCCESSES OF THE GREEKS.

CHAPTER I. THE ESTABLISHMENT OF GREECE AS AN INDEPENDENT STATE.

CHAPTER II. THE PRESIDENCY OF MAVROCORDATOS.

CHAPTER III. FALL OF ATHENS – DEFEAT OF DRAMALI – FALL OF NAUPLIA.

CHAPTER IV. THE CONDITION OF GREECE AS AN INDEPENDENT STATE.

#### BOOK FOURTH. THE SUCCESSES OF THE TURKS.

CHAPTER I. NAVAL SUCCESSES - IBRAHIM IN THE MOREA.

CHAPTER II. THE SIEGE OF MESOLONGHI.

CHAPTER III. THE SIEGE OF ATHENS.

#### BOOK FIFTH. FOUNDATION OF THE GREEK KINGDOM.

CHAPTER I. FOREIGN INTERVENTION - BATTLE OF NAVARIN.

CHAPTER II. PRESIDENCY OF COUNT CAPODISTRIAS. JANUARY 1828 TO OCTOBER 1831.

CHAPTER III. ANARCHY. 9TH OCTOBER 1831 TO 1ST FEBRUARY 1833.

CHAPTER IV. BAVARIAN DESPOTISM AND CONSTITUTIONAL REVOLUTION.

FEBRUARY 1833 TO SEPTEMBER 1843.

#### APPENDIX.

- I. Memorandum by Frank Abney Hastings, Esq., on the use of Steamers armed with heavy guns against the Turkish Fleet. Communicated to Lord Byron in 1823, and laid before the Greek Government, with some modification, in 1824.
- II. Memorandum by Sir Charles Napier, G.C.B., on Military Operations in the Morea against Ibrahim Pasha in 1826.

#### INDEX

#### THE HELLENIC KINGDOM AND THE GREEK NATION (1836)

Original Title Page

American Editor's Introduction to the 1837 Edition.

Preface

Introduction

General Observations.

On the State of the Greek Population Prior to the Establishment of the Hellenic Kingdom.

View of the Proceedings of the Different Administrations in Greece Since 1832. View of the Actual State of the Country, and the Means to Be Adopted for its Improvement.

#### **DETAILED TABLE OF CONTENTS**

#### **BACK COVER**

George Finlay

## Foreword and Author's Biography

This ebook contains the *History of the Greek Revolution*, of 1861, an as an appendix an earlier work of Finlay, *The Hellenic Kingdom and the Greek Nation*. The British *Dictionary of National Biography*, 1889 volume 19 pp. 36-37<sup>1</sup>, contains the following biography of George Finlay, which is reproduced here as a foreword to the *History of the Greek Revolution*.

George Finlay (1799–1875), historian, was son of Captain John Finlay, R.E., F.R.S., and brother of Kirkman Finlay (d. 1828). His grandfather, James Finlay, was a Glasgow merchant. He was born 21 Dec. 1799, at Faversham, Kent, where his father was inspector of the government powder mills. The latter died in 1802, and George was for some time instructed by his mother, to whose training he attributed his love of history. His education was continued at an English boarding-school, and in the family of his uncle, Kirkman Finlay of Glasgow, under private tutors. He subsequently studied law in Glasgow, and proceeded about 1821 to the university of Göttingen to acquaint himself with Roman jurisprudence. While there he began to doubt his vocation for law, and, partly influenced by his acquaintance with a Greek fellow-student, "resolved to visit Greece and judge for myself concerning the condition of the people and the chances of the war." In November 1823 he met Byron at Cephalonia. "You are young and enthusiastic," said Byron, "and therefore sure to be disappointed when you know the Greeks as well as I do." The number of Hellenes and Philhellenes about Byron gave umbrage to the Ionian government, which was bound to remain neutral. Finlay quitted the island on a hint from Sir Charles Napier, and, after narrowly escaping shipwreck, made his way successively to Athens and Missolonghi, where for two months he spent nearly every evening with Byron, who, Parry says, "wasted much of his time" in conversation with the future historian and other such frivolous persons. Quitting Missolonghi before Byron's death, Finlay joined Odysseus on an expedition into the Morea, but, disgusted with the general venality and rapacity, returned to the headquarters of the government, where things were no better. A malarious fever compelled him to return to Scotland, where he passed his examination in civil law, but

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Available at https://en.wikisource.org/wiki/Page:Dictionary\_of\_National\_Biography\_v olume\_19.djvu/36

was soon again in Greece at the invitation of his intimate friend Frank Abney Hastings, who had built a steamer in which Finlay took his passage. He continued fighting for Greece, or engaged in missions on her behalf, until the termination of the war, when he purchased an estate in Attica, "hoping to aid in putting Greece into the road that leads to a rapid increase of production, population, and material improvement." "I lost my money and my labour, but I learned how the system of tenths has produced a state of society, and habits of cultivation, against which one man can do nothing. When I had wasted as much money as I possessed, I turned my attention to study." His unfortunate investment had at least the good results of compelling his continual residence in the country, with which he became most thoroughly acquainted, and of stimulating his perception of the evils which, in the past as in the present, have deteriorated the Greek character and injured the credit and prosperity of the nation. The publication of his great series of histories commenced in 1844, and was completed in 1861, when he wrote the autobiographical fragment which is almost the sole authority for his life. His correspondence is lost or inaccessible, and, notwithstanding his courteous hospitality, acknowledged by many travellers, little more seems to be known of his life in Greece than his constant endeavours to benefit the country by good advice, sometimes expressed in language of excessive if excusable acerbity, but which, if little followed, was never resented by the objects of it. His most important effort was the series of letters he addressed to the "Times" from 1864 to 1870, which, being translated by the Greek newspapers, produced more effect than his earlier admonitions. He also contributed to "Blackwood's Magazine," the "Athenæum," and the "Saturday Review," occasionally visited England, not later, however, than 1854. He wrote in Greek on the stone age in 1869, and in the following year published the French narrative of Benjamin Brue, the interpreter who accompanied the Vizier Ali on his expedition into the Morea in 1715. Among his other writings are an essay on the site of the holy sepulchre (1847), and pamphlets on Greek politics (1836) and finance (1844). His essays on classical topography, never collected by himself, were published in 1842 in a German translation by S. F. W. Hoffmann. He died at Athens 26 Jan. 1875; the date 1876 given in the Oxford edition of his history is an unaccountable mistake.

Finlay's great work appeared in sections, as follows: "Greece under the

Romans," 1844; "Greece to its Conquest by the Turks," 1851; "Greece under Ottoman and Venetian Domination," 1856; "Greek Revolution," 1861. After the author's death the copyright of these several works was offered to the delegates of the Clarendon Press by his representatives, and in 1877 all were brought together under the title of "A History of Greece from its Conquest by the Romans to the present time, B.C. 146 to A.D. 1864," and published in seven volumes under the able editorship of the Rev. H. F. Tozer. The whole had been thoroughly revised by Finlay himself, who, besides aiming throughout at a greater condensation of style, had added several new chapters, chiefly on economical subjects, entirely recast the section on Mediæval Greece and Trebizond, and appended a continuation from 1843 to the enactment of the constitution of 1864. The period covered by the history, therefore, is no less than two thousand and ten years.

Finlay is a great historian of the type of Polybius, Procopius, and Machiavelli, a man of affairs, who has qualified himself for treating of public transactions by sharing in them, a soldier, a statesman, and an economist. He is not picturesque or eloquent, or a master of the delineation of character, but a singular charm attaches to his pages from the perpetual consciousness of contact with a vigorous intelligence. In the latter portion of his work he speaks with the authority of an acute, though not entirely dispassionate, eye-witness; in the earlier and more extensive portion it is his great glory to have shown now interesting the history of an age of slavery may be made, and how much Gibbon had left undone. Gibbon, as his plan requires, exhibits the superficial aspects of the period in a grand panorama; Finlay plunges beneath the surface, and brings to light a wealth of social particulars of which the mere reader of Gibbon could have no notion. This being Finlay's special department, it is the more to his praise that he has not smothered his story beneath his erudition. He may, indeed, even appear at a disadvantage beside the Germans as regards extent and profundity of research, but this inferiority is more than compensated by the advantages incidental to his prolonged residence in the country. His personal disappointments had indeed caused a censoriousness which somewhat defaces the latter part of his history, and is the more to be regretted as it affected his estimate of the value of his own work, and of its reception by the world. In character he was a frank, high-minded, publicspirited gentleman.

#### Note to the 2020 electronic edition

This e-book has been composed on the basis of the 1861 printed edition of *History of the Greek Revolution* and on the basis of the English (1836) and American (1837) editions of *The Hellenic Kingdom and the Greek Nation*, which differ slightly.

The scanned text was carefully controlled, in order to make available to the readers a good quality electronic version of this works. The page numbers of the original edition have been preserved in [square brackets].

To facilitate the reading of this electronic edition, the footnotes containing remarks that add some contents to the main discourse have been included in the text, and marked with letters within square brackets, e.g. [a]. The other footnotes contain references to the author's sources. Where the footnotes contain some discussion about the sources, they have been marked with an asterisk '\*'. Therefore the remaining notes should be consulted only by those who have an interest in identifying the author's sources.

A detailed Table of Contents has been added at the end of this e-book.

Καὶ παρῶν ἐρῶ Κουδὲν παρήσω τῆς ἀληθείας ἔπος Τι γάρ σε μαλθάσσοιμ' αν ών ές ύστερον ψεῦσται φαγούμεθ': ὀρθὸν ἀλήθει' ἀεί<sup>2</sup>.

#### HISTORY OF THE GREEK REVOLUTION

BY GEORGE FINLAY, LL. D.

Hon. Member of the Royal Society of Literature, Member of the American Antiquarian Society, Corresponding Member of the Archaeological Institute at Rome.

Knight Gold Cross of the Greek Order of the Redeemer. Author of the "History of Greece under Foreign Domination", etc.

#### IN TWO VOLUMES

VOL. I. VOL. II.

# WILLIAM BLACKWOOD AND SONS EDINBURGH AND LONDON **MDCCCLXI**

The Right of Translation is reserved

PRINTED BY WILLIAM BLACKWOOD AND SONS, EDINBURGH.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Sophocle, Antigones, 1179-1182 [Editor's note].

# BOOK FIRST. EVENTS PRECEDING THE REVOLUTION. CHAPTER I. THE CONDITION OF THE MODERN GREEKS.

"Countless generation of mankind Depart, and leave no vestige where they trode" -Wordsworth

[1] This History records the events which established the independence of Greece.

### Numbers of the Greek and Turkish races in Europe

As long as the literature and the taste of the ancient Greeks continue to nurture scholars and inspire artists, modern Greece must be an object of interest to cultivated minds. Nor is the history of the modern Greeks [2] unworthy of attention. The importance of the Greek race to the progress of European civilisation is not to be measured by its numerical strength, but by its social and religious influence in the East. Yet, even geographically, the Greeks occupy a wide extent of seacoast, and the countries in which they dwell are so thinly peopled that they have ample room to multiply and form a populous nation. At present their influence extends far beyond the territories occupied by their race; for Greek priests and Greek teachers have transfused their language and their ideas into the greater part of the Christian population of European Turkey. They have thus constituted themselves the representatives of Eastern Christianity, and placed themselves in prominent opposition to their conquerors, the Othoman Turks, who invaded Europe as apostles of the religion of Mohammed. The Greeks, during their subjection to the yoke of a foreign nation and a hostile religion, never forgot that the land which they inhabited was the land of their fathers; and their antagonism to their alien and infidel masters, in the hour of their most abject servitude, presaged that their opposition must end in their destruction or deliverance.

The Greek Revolution came at last. It delivered a Christian nation from subjection to Mohammedanism, founded a new state in Europe, and extended the advantages of civil liberty to regions where despotism had for ages been indigenous. In order to unfold its causes, it is necessary to describe the condition of the Greek people and of the Othoman government during the early part of this century.

When the Greeks took up arms, the numbers of the Greek and Turkish races in Europe were in all probability nearly equal, and neither is

supposed to have greatly exceeded, two millions. The population of continental Greece, from Cape Taenaron to the northernmost [3] limit of the Greek language, was supposed to be not much greater than a million.<sup>3\*</sup> Another million may be added for the population of Crete, the Cyclades, the Ionian Islands, Constantinople, and the Greek maritime towns. If we add to this the Greek population of Asia Minor, the islands on the Asiatic coast, Cyprus, the trans-Danubian provinces, Russia, and other countries, the whole number of the Greek race cannot be estimated at more than three millions and a half.

Two Christian races in the sultan's European dominions were more numerous: the Vallachian or Roman race was not less than four millions; the Sclavonian, including the Bulgarian, which speaks the Sclavonic language, exceeded five millions [a].

[a] Little dependence can be placed on the statistical accounts of the Othoman empire. Ubicini, one of the best authorities, in *Lettres sur la Turquie* (1853, p. 49), gives 60,000 as the population of Bassora. In the same year, the official registers at Constantinople were said to give only 5,000; and English officers who visited it shortly after, during the Persian war, did not suppose that it could contain a greater number. In 1820 the population was estimated at 12,000, and it has been declining ever since.

# Pashaliks into which the country inhabited by the Greeks was divided

The provinces in which the Greeks formed a majority of the inhabitants were divided into six pashaliks of high rank, and many smaller districts, governed immediately by inferior pashas.

( ... End of Preview ... )

10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This is the estimate of Colonel Leake, the most accurate and observant traveller in Greece. – *An Historical Outline of the Greek Revolution* (London, 1826), p. 20.

## **Detailed Table of Contents**

#### FOREWORD FROM THE EDITOR

NOTE TO THE 2019 ELECTRONIC EDITION

**ORIGINAL TITLE PAGE** 

#### BOOK FIRST. EVENTS PRECEDING THE REVOLUTION.

#### CHAPTER I. THE CONDITION OF THE MODERN GREEKS.

Numbers of the Greek and Turkish races in Europe

Pashaliks into which the country inhabited by the Greeks was divided

Effect of the treaty of Kainardgi on the condition of the Greeks

Distinction between Greek orthodoxy and Greek nationality

Social divisions of the Greek race

Greeks in Moldavia and Vallachia

Four general divisions of the Greek nation

Cleray

**Primates** 

Urban population

Rural populations

Municipal institutions

State of education

General Condition of the Greeks

Land-tax or tenths

Haratch or capitation-tax

Romeliots

Armatoli

Privileges of the province of Agrapha

Klephts

Moreots

Moreot klefhts

Maniats

Islanders

#### CHAPTER II. THE ALBANIANS.

Extent of country occupied by the Albanian race in Greece

Albanian Mussulmans of Lalla and Bardunia

Christian Albanians of the Dervenokhoria, Hydra, and Spetzas

Character and civil institutions of the Hydriots

The Albanians form a distinct branch of the Indo-Germanic race

**Gueghs and Tosks** 

Character, manners, and social condition of the Albanians

Administrative divisions

Military influence gained by the Albanians during the eighteenth century

In Greece after the year 1770

Policy of Ali Pasha of Joannina

Suliots, the most remarkable tribe of orthodox Albanians

Their rise and social condition

Repeatedly attacked by Ali Pasha

Last war

The priest Samuel

Treachery of Suliots and capitulation of Suli

Fate of Suliots

CHAPTER III. SULTAN MAHMUD AND ALI PASHA OF JOANNINA.

Character of Sultan Mahmud

State of the Othoman Empire

Ali Pasha of Joannina

Ali's cruelty

Anecdote of Euphrosyne

Anecdotes of the Bishop of Grevena, and of Ignatius, metropolitan of Arta

Destruction of Khormovo and of Gardhiki

Sultan Mahmud alarmed at Ali's power

Ali's attempt to assassinate Ismael Pasho Bey

Ali declared a rebel

Plans and forces of Ali

Sultan's means of attack

Ali convokes a divan

Both belligerents appeal to the Greeks

Operations against Ali

He is deserted by his sons

Recall of the Suliots to Albania

They join Ali

Khurshid Pasha of the Morea named Seraskier

Condition of the Suliots on their return

Their military system

Operations in 1821

Conduct of Khurshid before Joannina Compared with that of Philip V. of Macedon Suliots join the cause of the Greeks Mission of Tahir Abbas to the Greeks Death of Ali

#### BOOK SECOND. THE COMMENCEMENT OF THE REVOLUTION.

CHAPTER I. THE CAUSES OF THE GREEK REVOLUTION.

The causes produced by the improvement of society

Secret societies

Philiké Hetairia

Difficult position in which the Turks were placed

Plots of the Hetairists betrayed

Progress of education and moral improvement among the Greeks

Turks nationally more depressed by the Othoman government than Greeks

Influence of Roman law on modern Greek civilisation

Improvement which took place after the peace of Kainardgi, in 1774

Greeks living in Turkey under foreign protection

CHAPTER II. THE OPERATIONS OF THE GREEK HETAIRISTS BEYOND THE DANUBE.

Character of Prince Alexander Hypsilantes

Relations between Russia and Turkey

State of the government and of the Rouman population in Moldavia and Vallachia Invasion of Moldavia

Massacre of the Turks at Galatz and Yassi

Fury of the Turks

Revolution in Vallachia

Georgaki, Savas, and Vladimiresko

Hypsilantes at Bucharest

Sacred battalion

Proceedings in Vallachia

Anathema of the patriarch

Russia disclaims the Revolution

Deceitful conduct of Hypsilantes

The murder of Vladimiresko

Battle of Dragashan

Flight of Hypsilantes

Affair of Skuleni

Death of Georgaki

Termination of the Revolution in the principalities

#### CHAPTER III. THE OUTBREAK OF THE REVOLUTION IN GREECE.

Extermination of the Turks in Greece

Preparations of the Othoman government

Operations of the Hetairists in the Morea

The Archimandrite Gregorios Dikaios

Attempt of primates to defer the insurrection

Hostages summoned to Tripolitza by the Turks

Warning letter forged by the Greeks

First insurrectional movements in the Peloponnesus

Turks at Kalavryta surrender, and are murdered

Character of Petrobey

Taking of Kalamata, and first Te Deum for victory

Outbreak at Patras

Extermination of the Mohammedan population in Greece

Character and biography of Theodore Kolokotrones

His prayer at Chrysovitzi

Revolution at Salona, and character of Panourias

Salona and Livadea taken

Character of Diakos

Murder of Mohammedans

Acropolis of Athens besieged

Revolution at Mesolonghi

Vrachori taken, and Turks and Jews massacred

Revolution in the islands

Oligarchy and system of trade at Hydra

Spetzas first proclaims the revolution

Psara follows

Insurrection at Hydra headed by Economos

First cruise of the Greek fleet

Murder of the Sheik-el-Islam

Fall of Economos

Othoman fleet quits the Dardanelles

Greeks prepare fire-ships

Turkish line-of-battle ships burned off Mytilene

Kydonies sacked by the Turks

Squadron under Miaoulis on western coast of Greece

CHAPTER IV. THE POLICY AND CONDUCT OF SULTAN MAHMUD II.

Policy or Sultan Mahmud

Suppressive measures and first executions of Greeks

Execution of the Patriarch Gregorios

His character

Massacres of Greeks

Sultan restores order

Cruelties of Turks and Greeks

Rupture with Russia

Difficulties of Sultan Mahmud in 1821

Measures adopted to suppress the Greek Revolution

Order re-established in Agrapha, among the Vallachian population on Mount Pindus

Rapacity of the Greek troops

Insurrection on Mount Pelion suppressed

Revolution in the free villages of the Chalcidicé

Among the monks of Mount Athos

Suppressed by Aboul-Abad Pasha of Saloniki

Insurrection in the Macedonian mountains

Sack of Niausta

Success of Sultan Mahmud in maintaining order

#### BOOK THIRD. THE SUCCESSES OF THE GREEKS.

#### CHAPTER I. THE ESTABLISHMENT OF GREECE AS AN INDEPENDENT STATE.

Victory of the Greeks at Valtetzi

Capitulation of Monemvasia

Capitulation of Navarin and massacre of the Turks

Fraudulent division of the booty

Taking of Tripolitza and capitulation of the Albanians

The heroine Bobolina

Sack of Tripolitza

Anarchy it produced

Cruise of the Othoman fleet in 1821

Violation of neutrality at Zante

Return of the Othoman fleet to Constantinople

Kolokotrones prevented from besieging Patras

Surrender of Corinth

Resources of the Greeks for carrying on the war

Administrative organisation which arose with the Revolution

Advantages and disadvantages of the communal system existing in Greece

A Peloponnesian Senate formed

Arrival, character, and conduct of Prince Demetrius Hypsilantes

He claims absolute power

Arrival of Alexander Mavrocordatos

Organisation of Continental Greece

The Greeks demand a central government

Hypsilantes convokes a National Assembly

The antagonistic positions of the National Assembly and the Peloponnesian Senate

Prince Demetrius Hypsilantes deserts the popular cause

The Peloponnesians make their Senate independent

The constitution of Epidaurus

#### CHAPTER II. THE PRESIDENCY OF MAVROCORDATOS.

The character and political position of Alexander Mavrocordatos

Affairs of Euboea, and death of Elias Mavromichales

Conduct of Odysseus at Karystos

Affairs of Chios, and invasion of the island by the Samiots

Prompt measures of the sultan

Massacres of the Chiots

Greek fleet puts to sea

Constantine Kanaris burns the flag-ship of the capitan-pasha

Operations of the Greek fleet

**Devastation of Chios** 

The President Mavrocordatos assumes the chief command in Western Greece

Treachery of Gogos

Defeat at Petta

Effects of this defeat

Death of Kyriakules Mavromichales

Capitulation of Suliots

Affairs of Acarnania

Siege of Mesolonghi

Defeat of the Turks

#### CHAPTER III. FALL OF ATHENS - DEFEAT OF DRAMALI - FALL OF NAUPLIA.

Preparations of Sultan Mahmud for conquering Greece

Defensive measures of the Greeks

Their quarrels and intrigues

Odysseus murders Noutzas and Palaskas

Capitulation of Athens

Massacre of men, women, and children

Expedition of Dramali

Corinth retaken – Turkish plans of campaign

First capitulation of Nauplia

Flight of Greeks from Argos

They defend the Larissa

Patriotic conduct of Prince Demetrius Hypsilantes

Numbers of the Greek forces in the field

Defeat of Dramali

Greeks obtain possession of the Burdjee

Operations of the hostile fleets

Second capitulation of Nauplia

Turkish population of Nauplia saved by captain Hamilton of H.M.S. Cambrian

Kanaris again destroys a Turkish line-of-battle ship

State of the naval warfare between the Greeks and Turks

State of affairs at Athens

Odysseus gains possession of Athens

Concludes an armistice with the Turks

ERRATUM.

#### CHAPTER IV. THE CONDITION OF GREECE AS AN INDEPENDENT STATE.

Firmness of Sultan Mahmud

He adopts a conciliatory policy

A great fire at Constantinople destroys his armaments in 1823

Plan of campaign for 1823

Negligence of the Greek government

Olympian armatoli plunder Skiathos and Skopelos

Operations of the Turks

Death of Marco Botzares

Advance of the Turkish army

Siege of Anatolikon

Operations of the Greek and Turkish fleets

Escape of eight Psarian sailors

Violation of Ionian neutrality

Misconduct of the sailors on board the Greek fleet

Surrender of the Turks in the Acrocorinth

Lord Byron in Greece

First Greek loan contracted in England

First civil war

Mohammed Ali engages to assist the sultan

The political state of Greece in 1824

Position of Kolettes

Of Mavrocordatos

Second civil war

Characters of Zaimes, Londos, and Sessini

Evil consequences of the two civil wars

Wasteful expenditure of the two loans

**Anecdotes** 

Military expenditure

Naval expenditure

#### BOOK FOURTH. THE SUCCESSES OF THE TURKS.

#### CHAPTER I. NAVAL SUCCESSES - IBRAHIM IN THE MOREA.

Destruction of Kasos

Destruction of Psara

Expedition of Mohammed Ali

The Baïram at Makry

Naval battles off Budrun

Failure of the Turks at Samos

Ibrahim driven back from Crete

Ibrahim lands in Greece

Greeks unprepared for defence

Defeat of the Greek army

Egyptians take Sphakteria

Escape of the brig Mars

Capitulation of Navarin

Success of Miaoulis at Modon

Kolokotrones General in the Peloponnesus

Defeat of the Greeks and death of the archimandrite Dikaios at Maniaki

Defeat of Kolokotrones at Makryplagi

Ibrahim repulsed at Lerna

Defeat of Kolokotrones at Trikorpha

Ibrahim ravages the Morea

Receives orders to aid in the siege of Mesolonghi

#### CHAPTER II. THE SIEGE OF MESOLONGHI.

Operations of Reshid Pasha

State of Mesolonghi – Number of its garrison and of its besiegers

Arrival of the Othoman fleet

Arrival of the Greek fleet

Difficult position of Reshid

He constructs a mound

Treason of Odysseus

Military operations in continental Greece

Reshid withdraws to a fortified camp

Operations of the Turkish and Greek fleets

Ibrahim arrives before Mesolonghi

Lethargy of the Greeks and of their government

The Turks take Vasiladi and Anatolikon

Offers of capitulation rejected

Turkish attack on Klissova repulsed

Defeat of the Greek fleet under Miaoulis

Final sortie

Fall of Mesolonghi

#### CHAPTER III. THE SIEGE OF ATHENS.

Ibrahim's operations in the Morea during 1826

Reshid's operations in continental Greece

Commencement of the siege of Athens, and battle of Khaïdari

Death of Goura

Grigiottes throws himself into the Acropolis

Karaïskaki's operations to raise the siege

Fabvier throws himself into the Acropolis

State of Greece during the winter 1826-27

Expeditions for the relief of Athens under Gordon, Burbaki, and Heideck

General Sir Richard Church

Lord Cochrane (Earl of Dundonald)

Election of Count Capodistrias to be president of Greece

Naval expedition under Captain Hastings

Greek traders supply Reshid's army with provisions

Operations of Church and Cochrane before Athens

Massacre of the garrison of the monastery of St Spiridion

Karaïskaki's death

Defeat of Sir Richard Church at the Phalerum

Evacuation of the Acropolis

Conduct of Philhellenes in Greece, England, and America

Lord Cochrane's naval review at Poros

Sufferings of the Greeks

Assistance sent from the United States

#### BOOK FIFTH, FOUNDATION OF THE GREEK KINGDOM.

#### CHAPTER I. FOREIGN INTERVENTION - BATTLE OF NAVARIN.

Conduct of Russia

Conduct of Great Britain

Congress of Verona

Russian memoir on the pacification of Greece in 1823

Effect of this memoir

Turkey complains of the conduct of the British government

Greece places herself under the protection of England

Protocol of the 4th April 1826 for the pacification of Greece

Destruction of the janissaries

Treaty of the 6th July 1827 for the pacification of Greece

State of Greece in 1827

Victory of Hastings at Salona

Battle of Navarin

Greek slaves carried off to Alexandria

Greek troops cross into Acarnania

Hastings takes Vasiladi

Death of Hastings

Russia declares war with Turkey

French troops compel Ibrahim to evacuate the Morea

#### CHAPTER II. PRESIDENCY OF COUNT CAPODISTRIAS. JANUARY 1828 TO OCTOBER 1831.

Character of Count John Capodistrias

First administrative measures as president

His opinions and policy

Organisation of the army

Fabvier's resignation

Operations in Eastern and Western Greece

Termination of hostilities

Civil administration

Viaro Capodistrias

Financial administration

Judicial administration

**Public instruction** 

National Assembly of Argos

Protocols of the three protecting powers

Prince Leopold of Saxe-Coburg sovereign of Greece

His resignation

Capodistrias becomes a tyrant

Hostility to the liberty of the press

Tyranny of Capodistrias

Affair of Poros

Destruction of the Greek fleet

Sack of Poros

Family of Mavromichales

Assassination of Capodistrias

#### CHAPTER III. ANARCHY, 9TH OCTOBER 1831 TO 1ST FEBRUARY 1833.

Governing commission refuses to grant a general amnesty

Second national assembly at Argos

Romeliot military opposition

Agostino president of Greece

Romeliots expelled from Argos

Sir Stratford Canning's memorandum

Romeliots invade the Morea

Conduct of the residents

Agostino ejected from the presidency

Governing commission

State of Greece

**Anarchy** 

French troops garrison Nauplia

Djavellas occupies Patras

Kolokotrones rallies the Capodistrians

National assembly at Pronia

Constitutional liberty in abeyance

Intrigues of the senate

Municipal institutions arrest the progress of anarchy in the Morea

Condition of Messenia

Position of Kolokotrones and Kolettes

True nature of the municipal institutions in Greece not generally understood

Attack on the French troops at Argos

Establishment of the Bavarian dynasty

CHAPTER IV. BAVARIAN DESPOTISM AND CONSTITUTIONAL REVOLUTION. FEBRUARY 1833 TO SEPTEMBER 1843.

Landing or King Otho

The regency, its members and duties

Royal proclamation - Administrative measures

Military organisation

Civil administration – Municipal institutions

Financial administration

Monetary system

Judicial organisation

The Greek Church, reforms introduced by the regency

Synodal tomos

**Monasteries** 

Public instruction

Restrictions on the press

Roads

Order of the redeemer

Quarrels in the regency

Kolokotrones's plot

Armansperg intrigue

Armansperg's administration

Bavarian influence

Disputes with England

Alarming increase of brigandage

Insurrections in Maina and Messenia

Brigandage in 1835

General Gordon's expedition

Insurrection in Acarnania

Opinions of Lord Lyons and General Gordon on the state of Greece

Brigandage continues

King Otho's personal government

Attacks on Kino Otho in the English newspapers

Causes of the Revolution of 1843

Revolution

Observations on the constitution

Conclusion

#### APPENDIX.

I. MEMORANDUM BY FRANK ABNEY HASTINGS, ESQ., ON THE USE OF STEAMERS ARMED WITH HEAVY GUNS AGAINST THE TURKISH FLEET. COMMUNICATED TO LORD BYRON IN 1823, AND LAID BEFORE THE GREEK GOVERNMENT, WITH SOME MODIFICATION, IN 1824.

II. MEMORANDUM BY SIR CHARLES NAPIER, G.C.B., ON MILITARY OPERATIONS IN THE MOREA AGAINST IBRAHIM PASHA IN 1826.

#### **INDEX**

#### THE HELLENIC KINGDOM AND THE GREEK NATION (1836)

**ORIGINAL TITLE PAGE** 

AMERICAN EDITOR'S INTRODUCTION TO THE 1837 EDITION.

PREFACE

INTRODUCTION

GENERAL OBSERVATIONS.

ON THE STATE OF THE GREEK POPULATION PRIOR TO THE ESTABLISHMENT OF THE HELLENIC KINGDOM.

VIEW OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE DIFFERENT ADMINISTRATIONS IN GREECE SINCE 1832.

VIEW OF THE ACTUAL STATE OF THE COUNTRY, AND THE MEANS TO BE ADOPTED FOR ITS IMPROVEMENT.

#### **DETAILED TABLE OF CONTENTS**

#### **BACK COVER**

**GEORGE FINLAY** 

#### Back Cover

The Greek War of Independence gathered the European youth who languished in the torpid atmosphere of the Restoration in their own countries. George Finlay, sent to Göttingen to improve his knowledge of Roman law, conversed much with everybody he met who had visited Greece, read all the works of modern travellers, and became a good acquaintance of the only Greek who was then studying at Göttingen.

He did not resist this pervasive call which mobilized the idealism of his generation, and he embarked for Greece in 1823. By participating in the War he became friend with Byron and with the renowned Captain Hasting, commander of the first steam frigate which fought effectively against the Turkish fleet, and accumulated a vast first-hand knowledge of the events of the revolution. After the birth of independent Greece, Finlay did not return to his homeland, but attempted to set up an innovative farm, losing all his money in the enterprise. Then he began studying the history of medieval and modern Greece, and wrote, among other essays, this *History of the Greek Revolution*, in which the mass of first-hand testimonies and documentary data in his possession was reworked in a masterpiece of historiography attentive to the facts and their context.

The essay begins with a description of the Greek society at the dawn of the Independence War and extends up to the Constitutional Revolution of 1843. Each chapter proceeds first by qualifying the more general context, and then going into detail of the events: in this way today's readers who have not specialist interest in minute details and the chronicles of war can read this book as a collection of monographs, of extreme interest for the image full of life that they return, of a society on the one hand pervaded by a powerful desire to shape its own political system, on the other hindered to realize its potential from inexperience and inability to organize itself.

# George Finlay

George Finlay (1799-1875), English born, was educated at Glasgow and Göttingen, where he studied Roman law. Becoming an enthusiast in the cause of Greece, he joined Byron in the War of Independence, and thereafter bought a property near Athens, where he settled and busied himself with schemes for the improvement of the country, which had little success, and writing a *History of Greece*, in several volumes, extending from the Roman Conquest to Finlay's present (146 B.C. to 1864).